IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 6 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

DERRICK A. POWELL AND EUGENIA POWELL,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO.: 83,625

Fifth DCA Case No.: 92-1937

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY, A FOREIGN CORP.,

Respondent.

PETITIONERS, DERRICK A. POWELL AND EUGENIA POWELL'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District State of Florida

ROBERT C. GRAY Attorney for Petitioners Florida Bar No. 0504343 1528 Palm Bay Road, N.E. Palm Bay, Florida 32905 (407) 676-2511

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a proceeding for review of an <u>en banc</u> decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in which Petitioners' request for a new trial or jury interview was denied. The <u>en banc</u> decision included four dissenting judges.

Petitioners are Black and are of Jamaican descent. On January 8, 1989, Petitioner, DERRICK A. POWELL, was injured in a motor vehicle accident involving an underinsured motorist. Respondent, ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY, provided Petitioners with underinsured motorist insurance protection. Petitioners proceeded to trial seeking money damages for personal injuries. Petitioners sought \$235,000.00 in damages. The net recovery from the verdict equated to \$10,524.00.

On the day following the verdict, Petitioners' counsel was contacted by Juror Karen Dowding. A juror interview of only Karen Dowding occurred on June 12, 1992 in the presence of counsel for Petitioners and counsel for Respondent as well as the trial judge, the Honorable Edward M. Jackson. Juror Dowding outlined in detail multiple accounts of jury misconduct including derogatory racial remarks made between and among the jurors concerning Petitioners and certain of Petitioners' witnesses. Ms. Dowding testified under oath to juror discussions and remarks before and during the deliberation process concerning "niggers" ("There's a saying in North Carolina, hit a nigger and get ten points, hit him when he's moving, get fifteen."); how Black people do not work as well as

White people; comparing Blacks to chimpanzees; and how relatives of the Petitioners were probably drug dealers as a consequence of their Jamaican descent. (App. 7-9).

Upon learning of this incredible testimony, Petitioners filed a motion for a new trial and, in the alternative, sought to interview the entire jury panel. The trial judge denied these motions and a timely appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal was filed.

On November 12, 1993, the Fifth District Court of Appeal filed an opinion reversing the trial judge and granting Petitioners' motion to conduct individual juror interviews. (App. 18-24). Based primarily on the authority of Sanchez v. International Park Condominium Association, Inc., 563 So.2d 197 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990), the Court remanded to the trial judge for the purpose of conducting individual juror interviews of all jurors with instructions to grant a new trial if it were determined that juror misconduct had actually occurred.

Thereafter, Respondent filed a motion for rehearing en banc or in the alternative, motion for rehearing. On March 31, 1994, in an en banc 5-4 decision, the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed itself, withdrew its previous opinion and affirmed the trial judge's decision to deny Petitioners' motion for a new trial and Petitioners' motion to conduct jury interview. (App. 1-6). Four judges dissented with three offering written dissenting opinions. (App. 7-17).

Petitioners timely filed their Notice to Invoke Discretionary

Jurisdiction of this Court on April 27, 1994.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal has denied Petitioners' request for a jury interview finding it is improper and against public policy to permit jurors to testify as to their motives and influences by which their deliberations were governed. However, the Fifth District specifically admits in its en banc decision that, "We acknowledge conflict with Sanchez v. International Park Condominium Association, Inc., 563 So.2d 197 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990)." (App. 5).

The decision of the Fifth District cannot be reconciled with the <u>Sanchez</u> opinion from the Third District Court of Appeal. Therefore, the instant decision expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another District Court of Appeal on the same question of law.

Additionally, as Judge Diamantis adds in his dissenting opinion, "Once the jurors were selected and sworn, those jurors became judges of the facts and any discrimination or bias on their part constituted state action directed to the appellants." (App. 15). Judge Diamantis added that the Fourteenth Amendment mandates that race discrimination be eliminated from all official acts and proceedings of the State. (App. 15). Therefore, this Court's discretionary jurisdiction should also be exercised because the instant decision expressly construes a provision of the State or Federal Constitution.

ARGUMENT I

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH Sanchez v. International Park Condominium Association, Inc., 563 So.2d 197 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990).

In this case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal reviewed the remarks made by multiple jurors both before and during delibera-The offending juror remarks which impressed the Fifth District included the following: (1) derogatory statements about "niggers" ("There's a saying in North Carolina, hit a nigger and get ten points, hit him when he's moving, get fifteen."); (2) comparisons between Blacks and chimpanzees; (3) alleged studies indicating that White people work better than Black people; and (4) assumptions by jurors that Petitioners must be related to drug dealers as a result of their Jamaican ancestry. (App. 7-9).Initially, the Fifth District believed these remarks to be more offensive and more egregious than those comments established in Sanchez v. International Park Condominium Association, Inc., 563 So.2d 197 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). As a result, the Court initially granted Petitioners' request for a juror interview of all jurors. (App. 18-24).

However, following an <u>en banc</u> review, the Fifth District reversed itself and expressly acknowledged that its opinion directly conflicts with the case of <u>Sanchez v. International Park Condominium Association</u>, Inc., 563 So.2d 197 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). (App. 1-6). In doing so, the Fifth District struggled with

multiple so-called "troubling questions" which it suggested the Florida Supreme Court should address if review is granted. (App. 5).

In Sanchez, a slip and fall personal injury case involving a Cuban plaintiff, two derogatory comments were made by a single juror in the jury room. It was established that the single juror stated, "Cubans as a whole, whenever anything like this happens, they yell sue, sue, sue or want to sue at a drop of a hat, something like that." Sanchez, 563 So.2d at 198. This juror, later, added that Cubans were all "ambulance chasers." Id. Sanchez, the trial judge allowed a jury interview of all jurors which established that the derogatory remarks had been made but that the remarks had not in any way influenced the jurors. Sanchez, the Third District Court of Appeal found the racial remarks and slurs to be sufficient enough to merit a new trial even though the other participants were not influenced. The Third District concluded that because the offending juror in Sanchez was an "active participant in the deliberative process," the plaintiff was entitled to have her case heard by a different impartial jury and a new trial was granted. Id. at 199. In Sanchez, the plaintiffs, at a minimum, were afforded the opportunity to have a juror interview to determine the truth and accuracy of those statements made by the one juror who came forward.

In the case at bar, the Fifth District initially ruled correctly that, "If Dowding's testimony is accepted as true, the

jurors in this case engaged in making racial jokes, slurs, and stereotyping comments in a case involving Black plaintiffs and Black witnesses and the jury's damage and fault determinations could well have been influenced by racial prejudice." (App. 21). Originally, the Fifth District ruled that the trial judge committed error in his order denying the new trial when he stated that, even assuming the testimony of the other jurors supported her version of what had transpired, Dowding's testimony afforded no basis upon which to award a new trial. (App. 20). Originally, the Fifth District disagreed with the trial court's determination. Unfortunately, now the Court has reversed itself en banc.

The basic facts and circumstances existing in both the case at bar and <u>Sanchez</u> are indistinguishable. There is unquestionably a clear and express conflict between the Fifth District and the Third District as expressly mentioned by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the case at bar. The Fifth District even admitted that it was unable to reconcile the two cases. Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction of this cause pursuant to Fla.R.App.P 9.030(a)(2)(A)(IV). This Court should accept discretionary jurisdiction, reaffirm the original decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, and reverse the more recent <u>en banc</u> decision of March 31, 1994.

ARGUMENT II

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY CONSTRUES A PROVISION OF THE STATE OR FEDERAL CONSTITUTION.

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case expressly construes a provision of the State or Federal Constitution, thereby triggering this Court's discretionary review. The jurors' conduct in making ethnic jokes and racial slurs during the trial process deprived the Petitioners of an impartial, fair trial as guaranteed by Amendment 14, United States Constitution and Article I, Section 22 of the Florida Constitution. (App. 15).

Once the jurors were selected and sworn, they became "agents of the State" and the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution mandates that race discrimination be eliminated from all official acts and proceedings of the State. The applicable standard of review is one of "strict scrutiny." (App. 15-16).

Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction of this cause pursuant to Fla.R.App.P 9.030(a)(2)(A)(II). This Court should now accept discretionary review, reverse the Fifth District's most recent opinion, and overrule any contrary decisions of other Districts below.

CONCLUSION

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below, because it expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another District Court of Appeal and/or because the case construes a provision of the State or Federal Constitution. This Court should exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of Petitioners' argument and to address and clarify the law pertaining to the fundamental right to a new trial and/or a jury interview when racial remarks and slurs have "infected" and "influenced" the most sacred and fundamental aspect of our legal system, the jury deliberation process.