FILED SUBJ. WHITE MAY 25 1994 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 83,625 Fifth DCA Case No.: 92-1937

DERRICK A. POWELL and EUGENIA POWELL,

Petitioners,

vs.

``

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY, A FOREIGN CORPORATION,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT, ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY'S JURISDICTIONAL REPLY BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District State of Florida

> DONNA C. WYATT FL Bar No. 265276 - and -LAURA P. KOWALCZYK FL Bar No. 869465 Attorneys for Respondent BEERS, JACK, TUDHOPE & WYATT, P.A. Post Office Box 948600 Maitland, FL 32794-8600 Telephone No. (407) 660-1818

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent respectfully submits that the *en banc* decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in its favor in the matter of *Powell v. Allstate* does not expressly and directly conflict with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal's opinion of *Sanchez v. International Park Condominium Association, Inc.*, 563 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). The Respondent's disagreement with certain aspects of the Petitioners' Statement of the Case and Facts is irrelevant and, for the purpose of the jurisdictional argument, inconsequential.

However, the Respondent would respectfully submit to this Court that the issue of liability and damages was highly contested in the Circuit Court trial of this matter. After eight hours of deliberation, the jury returned a total verdict in favor of Petitioners in the amount of Twenty-Nine Thousand Three Hundred Twenty and 00/100 Dollars (\$29,329.00). Inclusive in the verdict, was an award for past medical and wage loss, as well as, future medical and wage loss, despite the jury's finding of no permanent injury. The verdict was then reduced by the amount of the tortfeasor's policy limits previously tendered in the amount of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$10,000.00), and further reduced by the thirty percent (30%) comparative negligence assigned by the jury against the Petitioners. Petitioners' net recovery was Ten

Thousand Five Hundred Twenty-Four and 00/100 Dollars (\$10,524.00).

Thereafter, Petitioners' counsel was contacted by a juror. Petitioners' motion to interview this juror was granted. The interview was held with counsel for the parties and the trial judge present. Thereafter, the Petitioners moved for an interview of the entire jury panel and/or, in the alternative, a new trial. The trial judge denied Petitioners' Motions.

On appeal, the Fifth District Court of Appeal in its first opinion dated November 12, 1993, found the lower court to be in error and reversed and remanded. The Respondent timely filed a Motion For Rehearing *En Banc*, or in the alternative, a Motion for Rehearing on November 29, 1993. Upon Rehearing *En Banc*, the Fifth District Court withdrew its previous opinion of November 12, 1993 and substituted a second opinion, dated March 31, 1994. In withdrawing from its previous opinion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal upheld the lower court's denial of Petitioners' motions relying upon the Supreme Court's decision of *Baptist Hospital of Miami, Inc. v. Maler*, 579 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1991) and its own previous decision of *Rabun and Partners, Inc. v. Ashoks Enterprises, Inc.*, 604 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioners herein seek review of the most recent Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion en banc based upon a conflict with the Third District Court of Appeal's opinion of Sanchez v. International Park Condominium Association, Inc., 563 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). The Respondent would respectfully submit to this Court that the Powell en banc opinion does not expressly and directly conflict with the Third District Court of Appeal's Sanchez opinion thereby invoking the jurisdiction of this Court.

Petitioners fail to address this Court's opinion of *Baptist Hospital of Miami, Inc. v. Maler,* 579 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1991), decided after the *Sanchez* opinion, which sets forth the standard by which juror interviews should be conducted. Moreover, Petitioners, also fail to address the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion of *Rabun and Partners, Inc. v. Ashoka Enterprises, Inc.,* 604 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. DCA 5th 1992) which is directly in line with the *Baptist* decision and the *Powell en banc* decision.

Finally, Petitioners seek to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court by contending that the *Powell en banc* opinion expressly construes a provision of the State or Federal Constitution. A reading of the *Powell en banc* decision clearly reveals that such a contention has no basis, in fact, and relies upon a dissenting opinion of the first appellate *Powell* decision. This dissent was expressly renounced in the second *en banc* decision of March 31, 1994.

ARGUMENT

I. PETITIONERS' RELIANCE UPON A CONFLICT WITH THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION OF SANCHEZ V. INTERNATIONAL PARK CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC., 563 SO. 2D 197 (FLA. 3RD DCA 1990) IS MISPLACED AND FAILS TO ACKNOWLEDGE THE PREVIOUS PRECEDENT SET FORTH IN BAPTIST HOSPITAL OF MIAMI, INC. V. MALER, 579 SO. 2D 97 (FLA. 1991)

Petitioners seek review of the most recent Fifth District Court of Appeal opinion en banc based upon an alleged conflict with the Third District Court of Appeal's opinion of Sanchez, supra. The Respondent is cognizant of the fact that the Fifth District Court of Appeal stated in its en banc opinion that it acknowledges a conflict with Sanchez. However, Petitioners fail to point out to this Court that the Fifth District went on to state that the Third District, in rendering the Sanchez opinion, ignored this Court's decision of Baptist Hospital of Miami Inc., supra.

The Supreme Court in the *Baptist* opinion, decided after the Third District Court of Appeal *Sanchez* opinion, acknowledged the existence of a strong public policy against allowing litigants either to harass jurors or upset a verdict by attempting to ascertain some improper motive underlying it, unless the moving party has made sworn factual allegations that, if true, would require a trial court to order a new trial. *Baptist*, 599 So. 2d at 100. Under this standard, the moving parties first must establish

actual juror misconduct in the juror's interview and once that is done, the party making the motion is entitled to a new trial, unless the opposing party can demonstrate that there is no reasonable possibility that the juror's misconduct affected the verdict. Id. at 100.

In *Baptist*, two jurors indicated to the Petitioner Hospital's lawyers, that, although the Petitioner's hospital should have won, a verdict was rendered against it as a result of sympathy for the child Plaintiff in the medical malpractice action and an assumption that the child was injured. The Supreme Court affirmed the district court's quashing of the trial court's allowance of the jurors' interviews. In so doing, the Supreme Court held:

> "[T]o the extent an inquiry will illicit information about overt prejudicial acts, it is permissible; to the extent an inquiry will illicit information about subjective impressions of jurors, it may not be allowed."

Id. at 99.

The Court went on to clarify "overt prejudicial acts" as any actual, express agreement between two or more jurors to disregard their oath and instruction.

The distinction, as pointed out by this Court, is between overt prejudicial acts and subjective impressions or opinions of jurors about a reason the verdict was reached. The *Baptist* opinion found that the allegations of juror misconduct, consisting of an

agreement by jurors to return a verdict out of sympathy for a brain damaged child no matter what the evidence showed, was nothing more than purported opinions of two jurors about the reason the verdict was reached, not statements by jurors that any type of agreement was reached to disregard their oaths and ignore the law.

> "Both sympathy for a child and the reasons why the jurors reached a particular verdict clearly are subjective impressions or opinions that are not subject to juridical inquiry."

Id. at 100.

Secondly, the Petitioners fail to address the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion in Rabun v. Partners, Inc. v. Ashoka Enterprises, Inc., 604 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). Rabun considered a circuit court's order granting the Defendant/Appellee Ashoka's Motion to Interview a juror following the trial on the architectural firm's action for collection fees. Ashoka alleged that the jury decided to rule against the corporation because its president was, "a rich doctor who didn't need the money." The trial court granted the motion with the proviso that an evidentiary hearing would be scheduled and that either party could subpoena the jurors. Petition for certiorari review and quashing of the order was sought by the Plaintiff/Appellant. The Fifth District Court of Appeal granted Appellant's petition and guashed the order, citing Baptist, supra.

Based upon the *Baptist* decision, the *Rabun* court found that Ashoka's allegations of juror bias against it, due to its president's economic status, fit within the category of prohibited inquiry into the emotions and mental processes of the jurors. Matters which, according to this Court, essentially inhere within the verdict. *Rabun*, at 1286.

The Rabun court, in denying the appellant's motion for post trial jury interview, found that Ashoka's affidavit alleging juror bias was insufficient because it failed to allege that the jury expressly agreed to ignore the evidence in the case and refused to look at documentary evidence. As a result, the court found the allegations of bias to be inconsistent with the jury's actions during deliberations and their ultimate verdict.

In line with the above cases, the *Powell en banc* decision in the present action clarifies its previous opinion and states the following:

> "We find that the trial court's refusal to grant additional juror interviews does not indicate that it condones racial insensitivity, but rather reflects its commitment to follow the law announced, both by our Supreme Court and this court. We wish to make it clear, that we, just as much as the dissent, deplore the crass and intolerant comments attributed to some members of the jury, but our inquiry is not (and should not be) whether some insensitive clods were permitted to serve on the jury by trial counsel, but rather whether some jurors or the jury committed some objective act which compromised the integrity of the fact finding process " (App. 2).

Petitioners' reliance upon an express and direct conflict with the Third District Court of Appeal's opinion of *Sanchez, supra*, to confer the jurisdiction of this Court, is misplaced. Petitioners improperly rely upon *Sanchez* to the exclusion of the Supreme Court's decision previously discussed herein of *Baptist* and the Fifth District's own opinion of *Rabun*.

> II. PETITIONERS' CONTENTION THAT THE POWELL EN BANC DECISION, CONSTRUES A PROVISION OF THE STATE OR FEDERAL CONSTITUTION HAS NO BASIS, IN FACT OR CASE LAW.

Petitioners' contention that the *Powell en banc* decision, construes a provision of the State or Federal Constitution, is not supported by fact or case law. Instead, Petitioners' rely upon a dissenting opinion in the first *Powell* decision of November 12, 1993.

There is no basis for contending that jurors once sworn become agents of the State. The Fifth District Court of Appeal, in fact, rejects its fellow member's dissenting opinion, in its *en banc* decision, stating:

> "[T]hat this concept is contrary to the time honored practice of having jurors of our peers-not state agents." (App. 6).

CONCLUSION

This Court does not have discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(2)(a)(IV), in that the Fifth District Court's en banc decision of Powell v. Allstate Insurance Co. dated March 31, 1994 does not expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another District Court of Appeal or the Supreme Court on the same question of law, specifically, as cited by Petitioners, Sanchez v. International Park Condominium Association, Inc., supra. The present en banc decision is directly in line and follows the previous precedent as stated by this Court in its decision of Baptist and the Fifth District Court of Appeal's own opinion of Rabun.

Further, Petitioners have presented no factual or legal basis for asserting that the *Powell en banc* decision expressly construes a provision of the State or Federal Constitution to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to *Fla. R. App. P.* 9.030(2)(a)(ii).